
 
BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

Regular Meeting AGENDA South BRANCH 
February 8, 2012 6:30 PM 2090 Kittredge Street 

2090 Kittredge Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  (510) 981-6195  (510) 548-1240 (TDD)  (510) 981-6111 fax  BOLT@ci.berkeley.ca.us 

The Board of Library Trustees may act on any item on this agenda. 

I. PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

A. Call to Order 
B. Public Comments (6:30 – 7:00 PM) 

(Proposed 30-minute time limit, with speakers allowed 3 minutes each) 

C. Report from library employees and unions, discussion of staff issues 
Comments / responses to reports and issues addressed in packet. 

D. Report from Board of Library Trustees  

II. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The Board will consider removal and addition of items to the Consent Calendar prior to voting on 
the Consent Calendar. All items remaining on the Consent Calendar will be approved in one 

motion. 

A. Approve minutes of Regular Meeting of January 11, 2012  
Recommendation: Approve the minutes of the January 11, 2012 regular meeting of the Board of 
Library Trustees. 

B. Accept Gift Funds from the Library Foundation in the amount of $204,750 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution authorizing the acceptance and allocation of gift funds from the 
Berkeley Public Library Foundation constituting payment toward the Foundation’s branch library 
capital campaign pledge and other purposes. 

C. Administrative Regulations 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution adopting Berkeley Public Library Administrative Regulations as 
presented effective February 16, 2012. 

D. Bay-Friendly Landscaping Grant 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution accepting and appropriating Stopwaste.org managed Bay-
Friendly grant funds for the North Branch Improvement Project in an amount not to exceed $15,000.  

III. ACTION CALENDAR 

A. South Branch Construction Contract 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution to recommend City Council approve execution of a contract and 
any amendments with Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc. to provide construction related services 
for the South Branch Library project in an amount not to exceed $4,963,000. 

B. Temporary closure of the South Branch Library and Relocation of the Tool Lending Library;  
re-opening the North Branch Library; and reopening the Claremont Branch Library 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution authorizing the Director of Library Services to close the South 
Branch Library effective Sunday, March 17, 2012 for approximately 15 months for replacement and 
new construction; select a start date for temporary operation of the Tool Lending Library at an 
alternative location to begin prior to March 19, 2012; and re-open the North Branch Library on 
Saturday April 7, 2012 in order to complete Measure FF branch library authorized improvements. 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY   BOARD OF TRUSTEES AGENDA  

February 8, 2012  Page 2 

 

2090 Kittredge Street, Berkeley, CA 94704  (510) 981-6195  (510) 548-1240 (TDD)  (510) 981-6111 fax  BOLT@ci.berkeley.ca.us 

IV. INFORMATION REPORTS 

A. Update on the Branch Bond Program  
Discussion of staff report on status of implementation of the Measure FF branch improvement 
program, to include update on Request for Proposals, schedule, and budget. 

B. January 2012 Monthly Report from Library Director  
i. Library Development 

ii. Professional Activities 
iii. Programs, Services and Collections 
iv. Personnel 

C. Library Work Plan FY2012 and FY2013 

D. Library events: Calendar of events and press releases for various Library programs are posted at 
http://www.berkeleypubliclibrary.org 

V. AGENDA BUILDING 

The next meeting will be a Regular Meeting held at 6:30 PM on Wednesday, March 14, 2012 at the West 
Branch Library, 1125 University Avenue, Berkeley. 

VI. ADJOURNMENT 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  
Written materials may be viewed in advance of the meeting at the Central Library Reference Desk (2090 
Kittredge Street), or any of the branches, during regular library hours. 

Wheelchair accessible. To request a sign language interpreter, real-time captioning, materials in large 
print or Braille, or other accommodations for this event, please call (510) 981-6107 (voice) or (510) 548-
1240 (TTY); at least three working days will help ensure availability.    

Please refrain from wearing scented products to public programs. 

I hereby certify that the agenda for this regular meeting of the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley was posted in the display 
cases located at 2134 Martin Luther King, Jr. Way and in front of the Central Public Library at 2090 Kittredge Street, as well as on the 
Berkeley Public Library’s website on February 2, 2012. 

 

 //s// ____________________________________________________________  
 Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
 Serving as Secretary to the Board of Library Trustees 

For further information, please call (510) 981-6195. 

 

COMMUNICATIONS 
Communications to Berkeley boards, commissions or committees are public record and will become part of the City’s electronic records, 
which are accessible through the City’s website. Please note: e-mail addresses, names, addresses, and other contact information are 
not required, but if included in any communication to a City board, commission or committee, will become part of the public record. If 
you do not want your e-mail address or any other contact information to be made public, you may deliver communications via U.S. Postal 
Service or in person to the secretary of the relevant board, commission or committee. If you do not want your contact information 
included in the public record, please do not include that information in your communication. Please contact the secretary to the relevant 
board, commission or committee for further information. 
 

None. 

http://www.berkeleypubliclibrary.org/


MINUTES 
BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 

BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES REGULAR MEETING 
Wednesday, January 11, 2012, 6:30 P.M. 

 
SOUTH BRANCH LIBRARY – 1901 RUSSELL STREET 

 
Board of Library Trustees: 

Chair Darryl Moore Abigail Franklin 
Vice Chair Winston Burton Julie Holcomb 
 Jim Novosel 
 
I. PRELIMINARY MATTERS 

A copy of the agenda packet and a digital recording of the meeting is accessible 
at http://www.berkeleypubliclibrary.org/about_the_library/bolt/bolt.php 

A. Call to Order: 6:41 p.m. 

Present: Trustees Burton, Franklin, Holcomb and Novosel 

Absent:  Trustee Moore. 

Also Present: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services; Douglas Smith; Deputy Director; 
Sarah Dentan, Neighborhood and Children’s Services Manager; Eve Franklin, Administrative 
Secretary. 

Steve Dewan – Kitchell CEM 

B. Public Comments: none 

C. Report from library employees and unions, discussion of staff issues:  None. 

D. Report from Board of Library Trustees: 

1. Trustee Novosel – Reported he had attended e-books training at Central. It was very 
good, hope they have more. 

2. Trustee Holcomb – Reported she had attended a fund-raising part at Terry Powell’s 
home. Has been watching the progress on North Branch. Attended 4x2 meeting. 

3. Trustee Franklin – Reported she had attended the recent 4x2 committee meeting. 

4. Trustee Moore – Reported he had attended a fund raiser for the West Branch. Also 
reported passing of City Clerk Deanna Despain and former school board president Terry 
Doran. They’re going to set up a trust fund for her child, once I have more details I’ll 
pass that on to the Trustees. 

5. Chair Burton – Reported he spoken with Delfina Geiken about how the Project Labor 
Agreement is going, plans to report to the City Council in May. 

II. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Kitchell CEM Quarterly Update – Steve Dewan provided an update on the Branch Improvement 
Project (Attachment #1) 

II Consent, Item A 

http://www.berkeleypubliclibrary.org/about_the_library/bolt/bolt.php


Page 2 01/01/2012 MINUTES BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

III. CONSENT CALENDAR 

Action: M/S/C (Trustee Franklin / Trustee Holcomb to adopt Resolution# R12-001 to adopt the 
Consent Calendar as presented. 
Vote:  Ayes: Trustees Burton, Franklin, Holcomb Novosel and Moore.  Noes: None.  Absent: 
None.  Abstentions: Trustee Moore (item A only). 

A. Approve minutes of December 14, 2011 Regular Meeting 

From: Director of Library Services 
Recommendation: Approve the minutes of the December 14, 2011 regular meeting of the Board 
of Library Trustees. 
Financial Implications: None. 
Contact: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
Action: Adopted Resolution# R12-002. 

B. Authorization to Accept Recommendation of Selection Panel and Execute Contract for 
Measure FF Funded Public Art for South and West Branch Libraries 

From: Director of Library Services 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution authorizing the Director of Library Services to execute a 
contract and any amendments with Gina Dominguez for South Branch and Ene Osteraas 
Constable for West Branch for the provision of art commissioning, production and services 
related to design and installation of selected art for a term of 18 months in an amount not to 
exceed $35,000 for the South project and $49,000 for the West branch for the period from 
January 13, 2012 through July 13, 2013. 
Financial Implications: See report. 
Contact: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
Action: Adopted Resolution# R12-003. 

IV. ACTION CALENDAR 

A. Naming of Branch Libraries 

From: Deputy Director of Library Services 
Recommendation:  Adopt a resolution approving the policy for naming library facilities. 
Financial Implications: none. 
Contact: Douglas Smith, Deputy Director of Library Services.  
Action: M/S/C (Trustee Novosel / Trustee Moore to adopt Resolution # R12-004 approving  the 
policy for naming library facilities.  
Vote:   Ayes: Trustees Burton, Franklin, Holcomb, and Novosel.   Noes: None.   Absent: Moore.  
Abstentions: None. 

B. FY 2012 Mid-year Budget Review  

From: Deputy Director of Library Services 
Recommendation: Adopt a resolution amending the FY 2012 budget as presented. 
Financial Implications: see report.  
Contact: Douglas Smith, Deputy Director of Library Services.  
Action: M/S/C (Trustee Franklin / Trustee Moore to adopt Resolution # R12-005 amending the 
FY 2012 budget as presented.  
Vote:   Ayes: Trustees Burton, Franklin, Holcomb, and Novosel.   Noes: None.   Absent: Moore.  
Abstentions: None. 



Page 3 01/11/2012 MINUTES BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

 

V. INFORMATION REPORTS 

A. Update on the Branch Bond Program  

From: Director of Library Services 
Contact: Donna Corbeil, Library Director 
Action: Received. 

B. January 2012 Monthly Report from Library Director  

From: Director of Library Services  
Contact: Donna Corbeil, Library Director 
Action: Received. 

C. Library events 

From: Director of Library Services  
Contact: Donna Corbeil, Library Director 
Action: None. 

VI. AGENDA BUILDING 

The next meeting will be a Regular Meeting held at 6:30 PM on Wednesday, February 8, 2012 at the 
South Branch Library, 1901 Russell Street, Berkeley. 

• Budget goals update 
• Amnesty for book fines 
• Look at canned food drive for fines for next December 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 

Adjourned at 8:15 p.m. 

COMMUNICATIONS: None. 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL COMMUNICATIONS AND REPORTS:  

1. Kitchell CEM Quarterly Report 





1

January 11, 2012

Board of Library Trustees - Progress Report for

Branch Library Improvements Project

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Agenda

•General Program Update

•Progress Since 09/14/11

-Design Progress, Milestones

- Permitting Milestones

-Construction

•Schedule Update

•Budget & Cost Control Update

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



2

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

General Program Update – Progress Since 09/14/11

• DESIGN PROGRESS, MILESTONES

•Design Process:

•Conceptual Design

•Schematic Design

•Design Development

•Construction Documents

•WEST - 90% Construction Document level

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

General Program Update – Progress Since 09/14/11

• PERMITTING MILESTONES

•SOUTH:

- Submitted for Building Permit Building Permit Building Permit Building Permit on 09/08/11

-2 outstanding issues to be resolved for Permit – Permit to be picked up 
by selected Contractor

•WEST:

- Submitted for Building Permit Building Permit Building Permit Building Permit on 12/22/11

-First review comments due 01/25/12

-Approximately 2 revised applications anticipated

-Final presentation to Design Review Committee Design Review Committee Design Review Committee Design Review Committee 01/19/12

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



3

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

General Program Update – Progress Since 09/14/11

• CLAREMONT CONSTRUCTION - MILESTONES

•Construction Start: April 25, 2011

•Contractual Substantial Completion: November 25, 2011

•Contractual Final Completion: December 26, 2011

•As of December 31, 2011:

-Contract Duration: 100% complete (duration exceeded)

-Current Billing: 61%

•Project approximately Project approximately Project approximately Project approximately 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months behind schedulebehind schedulebehind schedulebehind schedule

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

General Program Update – Progress Since 09/14/11

• CLAREMONT CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

•Window installation

•Trim for mechanical, electrical, plumbing and fire sprinkler

•Switchgear set, waiting for PG&E

•Interior and exterior painting

•Bathroom tile

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



4

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



5

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



6

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



7

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



8

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



9

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

General Program Update – Progress Since 09/14/11

• NORTH CONSTRUCTION - MILESTONES

•Construction Start: May 16, 2011

•Contractual Substantial Completion: February 15, 2012

•Contractual Final Completion: March 17, 2012

•As of December 31, 2011:

-Contract Duration: 75% complete

-Current Billing: 70%

•Project approximately 1 week behind scheduleProject approximately 1 week behind scheduleProject approximately 1 week behind scheduleProject approximately 1 week behind schedule

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

General Program Update – Progress Since 09/14/11

• NORTH CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES

•Exterior painting mostly complete

•Bathroom tile

•Interior painting

•Electrical trim

•Boiler & floor vector installation

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



10

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



11

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



12

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



13

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



14

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Master Schedule 

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



15

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Master Schedule 

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Schedule Update

• Impacted Master Schedule 

• Program Completion date extended from 03/29/13 to 05/02/13

• Delays to completion of Claremont and start of South not reflected

• Update pending, but extension likely

• Unanticipated delays experienced to date:

• Bid protest for Claremont project

• Re-bid of North project

• Extended EIR process & lawsuit, Suspension of design activities

• Delays Delays Delays Delays on Claremont projecton Claremont projecton Claremont projecton Claremont project

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



16

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Schedule Update

• Ideas to mitigate delays and improve program schedule

• Shorten move-in and move-out durations (implemented)

• Shorten construction duration (implemented)

• Overlap more than 2 closures

• Critical path of schedule previously through North and 
West projects – Now potentially through Claremont and 
South if no overlap in closure

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Schedule Update

• Claremont Branch 

•Projected Opening March/April 2012

• North Branch

•Projected Opening April/May 2012

•No change in projection since 09/14/11 report

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



17

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Schedule Update

• South Branch

•Bid opening scheduled for January 17, 2012

•Scenario #1 – Start When Claremont or North Opens

- Delay start of construction and maintain original logic – Closure of only 2 
branches at a time

- Close mid-April, start construction May 2012 & open June 2013

•Scenario #2 – Start As Soon As Possible

- 3 branches closed at the same time – Approximately 2 months overlap in closure

- Close mid-February, start construction March 2012 & open April 2013

•Tool Lending Library can be relocated at any time

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Schedule Update

• West Branch 

•Branch to close when North opens 

•Anticipated Closure – May 2012 to June 2013

•Anticipated construction duration – 1 year

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



18

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Budget & Cost Control Update

•As of 11/31/11 - $7,096,604 of the $26.2M Bond 

Fund Expended – 27.0%

• Current major expenses – Building permit fees & construction

•Current budget assumes keeping to Master Schedule -

Schedule changes directly impact budget

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1



19

BOLT Progress Report 
Branch Library Improvement Project

January 11, 2012

QUESTIONS?

Consent II, Item A 
      Attachment 1





 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 

 CONSENT CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 
 
FROM: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
 
SUBJECT: ACCEPT GIFT FUNDS FROM THE BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY FOUNDATION IN THE 

AMOUNT OF $204,750 EARMARKED TOWARDS THE FOUNDATION’S BRANCH LIBRARY 
CAPITAL CAMPAIGN PLEDGE AND OTHER SPECIFIED PROGRAMS 

RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt a resolution authorizing the acceptance and allocation of gift funds from the Berkeley Public Library 
Foundation in receipt towards the Foundation’s branch library capital campaign pledge, and pass-through funds 
for targeted library programs.  

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 

The acceptance of these gifts will have no negative impact on the Library budget. Gift funds will be 
allocated to contracts and purchasing associated with the procurement of equipment, furniture, and 
other items directed to the branch renovation projects, and for services and goods of specified library 
programs.  

BACKGROUND 

The Berkeley Public Library Foundation has demonstrated a strong history of support for the Library, 
particularly raising capital funds to support facility improvements.  At the April 14, 2010, BOLT meeting 
Resolution No. 10-028 was approved, accepting the Berkeley Public Library Foundation Board of 
Directors’ resolution to undertake a major multi-year capital campaign for the Measure FF bond 
program in the amount of $3.5 million to fund the furniture, fixtures, equipment, and other expenses 
associated with the Branch Library Improvement Program. As of February 2012 (excluding gifts under 
consideration in this report), the Foundation has disbursed $550,000 to the Library specifically purposed 
towards this endeavor and made available through the Foundation FF&E Fund (307) .  

The Board of Library Trustees has in the past managed the acceptance and appropriation of all gifts, 
including substantial gifts, donations, and monetary awards designated for use by the Library.  These 
practices are part of the regular budget management process, including quarterly budget reports, the 
annual budget appropriation, and are consistent with the Library’s gift policy and the directives that the 
Board of Library Trustees approves the disposition of Library funds.  

At the September 20, 2011 regular meeting of the City Council, the council by Resolution No. 65, 444-
N.S. delegated to the board acceptance authority for all gifts to the Library in excess of $1,000 aggregate 
value.  Additionally,  the council delegated authority to accept any gifts of funds, goods, or services made 
to the Library up to $200,000 that do not include unduly restrictive conditions on their use and authority to 

II Consent, Item B 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
ACTION CALENDAR REPORT 
Gift Fund Acceptance  Page 2 

 
accept all gifts from the Library Foundation constituting payments toward the Foundation's branch library 
capital campaign pledge.  

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 

The Berkeley Public Library Foundation has indicated that they are prepared to make regular periodic 
gifts to the Library in association with the capital campaign through the fiscal year.  The current gift of 
$200,000 will be allocated to contribute to the Measure FF renovations.  

 

Amount Fund Source / Purpose 
$200,000 307 Library Foundation - Neighborhood Libraries FF&E Capital Campaign 

$3,500 306 Library Foundation (pass-thru) – Raymond Family Foundation for the Berkeley 
READS, Family & Adult Literacy Program 

$1,000 306 Library Foundation (pass-thru) – Fidelity Charitable / Anonymous Donor for 
Central Library Play-Reading Program 

$250 306 Library Foundation (pass-thru) – Fidelity Charitable / Bill Newton & Carol 
Lashof for the Central Library, Art & Music Department Program 

 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 

By accepting and appropriating the gift funds specified herein, the Library will be able to honor the 
intent and wishes of the grantor/donor and fulfill identified community needs.   

 

Attachments 
1. Resolution 
 



   

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

RESOLUTION NO.: R12-___ 

ACCEPT GIFT FUNDS FROM THE BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY FOUNDATION IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$204,750 EARMARKED TOWARDS THE FOUNDATION’S BRANCH LIBRARY CAPITAL CAMPAIGN PLEDGE 
AND OTHER SPECIFIED PROGRAMS 

WHEREAS, the Berkeley Public Library regularly receives gifts from two support organizations: the 
Berkeley Public Library Foundation and the Friends of the Berkeley Public Library; as well as many 
individuals and groups; and 

WHEREAS, at the regular BOLT meeting of April 14, 2010, by a vote of five ayes and zero nays, 
Resolution No. 10-028 was approved accepting the Foundation’s commitment to raise $3.5 Million to 
fund expenses associated with the branch library bond projects (Measure FF); and 

WHEREAS, the Foundation has donated to date a total of $550,000 toward the Branch Library FF&E 
Capital Campaign; and 

WHEREAS, gift funds received from the Foundation for the purpose of the Branch Library FF&E Capital 
Campaign, once accepted by the board will be allocated towards the procurement of furniture, 
computers, equipment, and services from vendors as appropriate to the outfitting of the renovated 
branch facilities, and consistent with the Library’s purchasing policy; and  

WHEREAS, donors periodically approach the Foundation to make a cash gift in support of a particular 
library program, collection, or service; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has delegated to the Library Board of Trustees the authority to accept any 
gift of funds, goods, or services made to the Library up to $200,000 that do not include unduly restrictive 
conditions on their use, and all gifts from the Berkeley Public Library Foundation constituting payments 
toward the Foundation’s Branch Library FF&E Capital Campaign.  

BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley hereby authorizes the 
acceptance of $204,750 from the Berkeley Public Library Foundation and the allocation of these funds to 
procure needed furnishings and equipment for the branch library Measure FF projects and for other 
programs as designated by the donor.  

ADOPTED by the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley at a regular meeting held on February 
8, 2012 by the following vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:   
ABSTENTIONS:   
  
  __________________________________________________  
    Winston Burton, Chairperson 
  
  __________________________________________________  
    Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
    Serving as Secretary to the Board of Library Trustees 
 

Attachment 1 





 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 

 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 

 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 

FROM: Douglas Smith, Deputy Director of Library Services 

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS 

RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt a Resolution adopting Berkeley Public Library Administrative Regulations as presented 
effective February 13, 2012. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This report will have no fiscal impacts. 

BACKGROUND 

Certain policies and procedures that affect all City of Berkeley employees and/or departments 
may be written as an Administrative Regulation (AR). ARs are generally written under the 
auspices of City department heads and approved by the City Manager, who in so doing 
establishes policy and procedures to exercise control over all departments and divisions of the 
City government, and over all appointive officers and employees.  

Additionally, under the City of Berkeley Charter, the Board is the governing body for the Library, 
and as such has the authority to independently approve and publish Administrative Regulations 
affecting the Library. The Board has a long established practice of approving ARs which relate 
directly to Library services and operations, for example AR 1.3 Staff Support to Board and 
Related Committees, AR 1.15 Posting and Enforcing Rules of Conduct for Visitors to All Library 
Buildings, and all of the ARs in the 10.0 Library Services series. A chart showing all ARs, including 
those approved independently by the Board, is attached as Attachment 2. 

 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 

The Office of the City Manager maintains the current list of City ARs, which is available on 
iCoBWEB, the City of Berkeley’s internal web site. At its regular meeting on November 9, 2005, 
the Board of Library Trustees approved a resolution officially accepting the City of Berkeley 
Administrative Regulations as those which control the Library. Since that date, the Board has 
from time to time approved new Library-specific ARs and, in attempting to make Library 

II Consent, Item C 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
ACTION CALENDAR REPORT 
Administrative Regulations  Page 2 

 
policies clear and explicit, also approved some ARs which duplicate City Manager-approved 
ARs. The chart in Attachment 1 shows all ARs, with recommendations regarding retention or 
repeal. As Library staff have monitored new ARs being issued by the City Manager’s Office, it 
has become evident that the need to duplicate these involves unnecessary redundancy. Certain 
Board-approved ARs so closely mirror, in language, purpose, and impact, those issued by the 
City Manager that, under the advice of the Office of City Attorney, staff are recommending that 
these duplicative ARs (see Attachment 1) be repealed in favor of permitting the City ARs to 
serve as the ruling regulation. This recommendation is based on the City’s AR 1.1 Control and 
Updating of Administrative Regulations, which states that ARs approved and published by the 
City Manager “affect all City employees and/or departments,” and “exercise control over all 
departments and divisions of the City government and over all appointive officers and 
employees.” 

FUTURE ACTION 

On an as-needed basis, Library staff will bring before the Board for approval new Administrative 
Regulations that relate specifically to Library services and operations. 

Attachments: 
1. Resolution 
2. AR Chart 
 
 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

 
 

RESOLUTION NO.: 12-___ 
 

ADOPT BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY ADMINISTRATIVE REGULATIONS AS PRESENTED  
EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 13, 2012 

 
WHEREAS, THE Library strives to conform to city developed regulations and best practices; and 

WHEREAS, the Board, as the governing body for the Berkeley Public Library has the authority, by city 
charter to manage the Library; and  

WHEREAS, City of Berkeley Administrative Regulations, pertaining to employees, practices and general 
policies have been duplicated in library created ARs; and 

WHEREAS, Greater efficiency and clarity would be achieved by eliminating redundant regulations; and 

WHEREAS, Staff has carefully reviewed existing Library ARs and City ARs and identified those that affect 
all city employees and / or departments, so that redundancies could be reduced with the elimination of 
appropriate Library ARs; and  

WHEREAS, No changes would be made to Library Administrative Regulations that are specific to the 
library’s operations and functions and in those areas that fall under the auspices of the Board’s 
management.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley hereby 
adopts a resolution to repeal ARs 1.1, 1.13, 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, 2.6, 2.7, 2.8, 2.9, 2.11, 2.12, 2.14, 2.15, 3.2, 3.3, 
3.8, 3.9, 3.10, 3.12, 3.14, 3.15, 3.17, 3.18, 3.20, 3.21, 7.4, 7.5 and that all other adopted regulations will 
remain unchanged. 

ADOPTED by the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley at a special meeting held on February 
8, 2012 by the following vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTENTIONS:  
  
   ____________________________________________  
   Winston Burton, Chairperson 
 
   ____________________________________________  
   Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
   Serving as Secretary to the Board of Library Trustees 

 

Attachment 1 





 

A.R. 
Number Subject 

Date 
Adopted 
by CoB 

Date 
Adopted 

by 
BOLT 

Recommendation  

  1.0 GENERAL     

1.1 Control and Updating of 
Administrative Regulations   5/12/10 10/18/06 Repeal  

1.2 Conflict of Interest Statements   9/9/05  n/a 

1.3 Staff Support to Board and 
Related Committees  9/14/05 

 
Retain  

1.4 Contact with City Council 
Members and Their Staff 5/12/10  n/a 

1.5 Reproduction Services   5/5/06  n/a 
1.6 City Mail Services   5/5/06  n/a 

1.7 Inter-Departmental 
Communications  5/12/10  n/a 

1.8 Posting on Official Bulletin 
Boards    9/10/08 Retain 

1.9 Telephone Usage   6/15/02  n/a 

1.11 
Rules for Half-Staffing 
National Flags on City 
Property 

5/12/10 
 n/a 

1.12 Communications Access 
Policy [title to be expanded]   6/15/02  n/a 

1.13 ADA/Section 504 Grievance 
Procedures 9/6/05 11/14/07 Repeal 

1.14 Press Relations  5/12/10  n/a 

1.15 
Posting and Enforcing Rules 
of Conduct for Visitors to All 
Library Buildings  

8/25/10 
12/12/07 Retain  

1.16 
Guidelines for the Review, 
Approval and Submission of 
Grant Applications 

 6/1/03 
7/18/07 Retain  

  2.0 PERSONNEL AND 
PAYROLL     

2.2 Temporary Employment 9/6/05  n/a 

2.3 Performance Evaluation 
Program 2/17/10 1/17/07 Repeal  

II Consent , Item B  
Attachment 2 

http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-2.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-4.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-5.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-6.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-7.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-8.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-9.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-11.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-12.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-13.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-14.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-15.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR1-16.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-2.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-3.pdf


2.4 Family Care Leave 11/17/10 10/18/06 Repeal 

2.5 Catastrophic Leave or Injury 
Leave Transfer 9/6/05 10/18/06 Repeal 

2.6 City Property - Issuance and 
Retrieval 9/6/05 9/9/07 Repeal 

2.7 
Workers Compensation 
Procedures and 
Responsibilities 

 5/8/09 
10/18/06 Repeal 

2.8 Administrative Leave Policy  10/14/05 1/17/07 Repeal 

2.9 

Outside Employment by 
Deputy City Managers, 
Assistant City Managers and 
Department Directors 

 10/11/05 

1/17/07 Repeal 

2.10 

Outside Employment - All 
Other Employees, Except 
Deputy City Managers, 
Assistant City Managers and 
Department Directors 

 11/17/05 

 n/a 

2.11 Flextime Policy and 
Guidelines  9/6/05 10/18/06 Repeal 

2.12 Employment of Near 
Relatives Policy  2/17/10 10/18/06 Repeal 

2.13 
Drug and Alcohol Testing 
Program for City Drivers with 
Commercial Drivers' Licenses 

12/19/08 
 n/a 

2.14 Safe Use of Cellular and 
Other Wireless Telephones 2/17/10 10/18/06 Repeal 

2.15 City Issued Communication 
Equipment Policy 4/16/08  n/a 

2.15[BPL] 

Guidelines for Vacation, 
Floating Holiday, 
Compensatory, Administrative 
and Other Leave Requests 

 

9/20/06 Repeal: 
(superseded by 
internal policy) 

2.16 City Staff Directory 3/17/09  n/a 

  3.0 FINANCIAL AND 
PURCHASING     

3.1 Treasury Accommodations to 
City Employees   2/10/06  n/a 

3.2 
Stipend and Reimbursement 
in Lieu of Expenses for 
Members of Certain Boards, 

 5/27/10 
10/24/07 Repeal 

http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-4.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-5.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-6.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-7.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-8.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-9.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-10.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-11.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-12.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-13.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-14.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-15.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR2-16.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-2.pdf


Commissions and 
Committees 

3.3 Petty Cash Revolving Funds  8/20/07 10/18/06 Repeal 
3.4 Purchasing Manual  4/14/09 12/9/09 Retain  
3.5 Disposal of Surplus Property  6/5/02 9/19/07 Retain  
3.6 Audit Reports  6/15/02  n/a 

3.7 Audit Procedures and 
Requirements  6/15/02  n/a 

3.8 
Charges for City 
Records/Publications/Meeting 
Tapes 

9/6/05 
1/17/07 Repeal 

3.9 
Policies and Procedures for 
Payment of Conference and 
Meeting Attendance 

9/16/10 
10/18/06 Repeal 

3.10 Moving Expense 
Reimbursement 11/17/10 1/17/07 Repeal 

3.11 
Inter-Departmental Charging 
of Personnel and Non-
Personnel Costs  

 2/3/09 
 n/a 

3.12 Delegation of Authority to 
Approve Voucher Payments   8/30/07 10/18/06 Repeal  

3.13 Procedures for City Inventory  6/15/02  n/a 
3.14 Voucher Processing   8/30/07 1/17/07 Repeal  
3.15 Write-Off Policy   11/15/07 1/17/07 Repeal  

3.17 Fraud, Abuse and Misuse of 
City Resources 8/1/2008 10/18/06 Repeal 

3.18 Establishing and Closing 
Bank Accounts 5/5/06 9/19/07 Repeal 

3.19 
Donations to the City from 
Individuals or Outside 
Organizations 

5/9/11 
 n/a 

3.20 Cash Handling Policy and 
Guidelines 5/5/06 1/17/07 Repeal 

3.21 

Policy for Hiring Employees 
Responsible for Cash 
Handling and Asset 
Management 

5/5/06 

9/19/07 Repeal 

3.22 Identity Theft Prevention 
Program 5/8/09  n/a 

http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-3.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-4.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-5.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-6.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-7.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-8.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-9.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-10.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-11.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-12.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-13.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-14.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-15.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-17.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-18.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-19.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-20.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-21.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-22.pdf


3.23 

Dismissal of Parking Citations 
Issued to Employees During 
the Regular and Authorized 
Performance of Assigned 
Duties 

8/2/11 

 n/a 

  4.0 INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY     

4.1 Telephone System Changes 
and New Installations   6/15/02  n/a 

4.2 Computer Network Resources  9/26/11  n/a 
  5.0 CITY COUNCIL     

5.1 
Procedures and 
Responsibilities for Council 
Agenda Material 

4/29/11 
 n/a 

5.2 
Format for City Council 
Workshops or Public 
Discussions 

4/29/11 
 n/a 

5.3 Public Hearings Held by the 
City Council  6/15/02  n/a 

  6.0 CITY PROPERTY AND 
EQUIPMENT     

6.1 Civic Center Building 
Protocols & Security 9/6/05  n/a 

6.3 
Notification of Discharge of 
Hazardous Wastes / 
Proposition 65  

4/7/10 
 n/a 

6.4 
Requests for 
Maintenance/Construction 
Work - City Property 

9/6/05 
 n/a 

6.5 Use of Video Monitoring 
Equipment  2/13/08 Retain 

6.6 

Real Estate Transactions: 
Negotiating and Preparing 
City Lease or License 
Agreements, Acquiring or 
Disposing of Real Property  - 
City is Landlord or Tenant 

 10/14/05 

 n/a 

6.7 City Property - Payment of 
Permit Fees on City Projects  4/8/10  n/a 

6.8 Charging Electronic 
Equipment Policy  10/14/08 Retain 

http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR3-23.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR4-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR4-2.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR5-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR5-2.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR5-3.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR6-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR6-3.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR6-4.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR6-6.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR6-7.pdf


  7.0 MOTOR VEHICLE 
USAGE AND PARKING     

7.1 Use of Fleet Vehicles  8/3/11  n/a 
7.2 Use of Private Vehicles  6/15/02  n/a 

7.3 Employee Parking Permit 
Regulations 9/14/10  n/a 

7.4 Lease/Rental of Vehicles  10/11/05 9/10/08 Repeal 

7.5 Use of Bicycles on City 
Business 4/26/06 9/10/08 Repeal 

  8.0 LEGAL MATTERS     

8.1 
Procedures for Responding to 
Subpoenas for Production of 
Documents 

9/6/05 
 n/a 

  9.0 DISASTER 
PREPAREDNESS     

9.1 EOC Pager Response 
System Procedures  10/21/05  n/a 

9.2 Disaster Service Worker 2/17/10  n/a 

 10.0 LIBRARY SERVICES  
 [Retain all: no City 

of Berkeley 
equivalents] 

10.5 Unattended Children in the 
Library  12/6/06 Retain 

10.11  Gift and Donation Policy  7/3/11 Retain 
10.12 Library Volunteer Policy  9/9/09 Retain 
10.14 Alcohol Policy  1/12/03 Retain 
10.16 Internet Use Policy  10/24/07 Retain 
10.17 Requesting Library Materials  1/9/08 Retain 

10.18 Noncommercial Photography 
and Filming Policy  1/9/08 Retain 

10.19 Privacy Policy  9/29/08 Retain 

10.20 Unclaimed Property and Lost 
& Found Policy  9/9/09 Retain 

10.22 Policy on Use of Collections 
by Library Staff  4/13/11 Retain 

 

http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR7-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR7-2.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR7-3.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR7-4.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR7-5.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR8-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR9-1.pdf
http://webserver4/AR/PDF/AR9-2.pdf




 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 

 CONSENT CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 
 
FROM: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
 
SUBJECT: ACCEPT AND APPROPRIATE BAY-FRIENDLY LANDSCAPING GRANT FUNDS FOR THE 

NORTH IMPROVEMENT PROJECT IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $15,000 IN FY 
2012/13. 

   
RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt a resolution authorizing the Director of Library Services to apply for, accept and appropriate to FY 
2012/13 Stopwaste.org issued Bay-Friendly landscaping grant funds for the North Branch Improvement 
Project in an amount not to exceed $15,000.  
 

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 

The North Branch improvement project is designed to achieve a City mandated Silver LEED rating. The 
project also provides a valuable opportunity to incorporate Bay-Friendly landscaping principles into the 
site renovations. The funding to cover these improvements is provided by Measure FF project funds and 
included in the executed construction contract. The grant award will supplement and / or offset the cost 
of several key features planned if received. Given the timing of the grant application and award cycle the 
design is fully funded by FF. 

 

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 

The project’s landscape architect, Gates + Associates under the direction of the primary design team of 
Architectural resources Group / Tom Elliot Fitch has completed a Bay-Friendly grant application on 
behalf of the library. The landscape portion of the project includes features such as permeable pavers, 
reuse of on-site recycled materials, replacement of small lawns with drought-tolerant natives and bio-
filtration planters.  In addition, some of the landscape / site related elements contribute to the general 
LEED checklist.  Installation of the landscape and other site changes will be, according to Bay-Friendly 
requirements monitored as part of the construction administration phase of the project. The City is 
committed to the concepts and principles outlined by Bay-Friendly Landscaping Practices and is 
committed to implementing sustainable practices whenever possible.  

The Bay-Friendly Scorecard for Commercial & Civic Landscapes for the North Branch has been 
completed by the design team architect and reviewed by staff.  A completed application was submitted 
to Stopwaste.org for consideration on January 26, 2012. Award notification may take up to 12 weeks. 

II Consent, Item D 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
CONSENT CALENDAR REPORT 
Bay-Friendly Grant  Page 2 

 
BACKGROUND 

The North project team met early in the design phase with staff representing Stopwaste (the Alameda 
County Waste Management Authority) and staff from the City of Berkeley Planning Department, 
Sustainability Coordinator and the Office of Energy & Sustainability Development to review the City’s 
Green Building policies (Council Resolution NO. 62,284).  

The Bay-Friendly landscaping grants program is open to local and regional governmental agencies with 
facilities in Alameda County and each year allocates funding for this grant program. The program is 
intended to assist local and regional governmental organizations and non-profits located in the county 
to incorporate sustainable or “green” landscape measures and materials in to public landscapes and 
public-benefit projects.  The branch projects are excellent candidates for these grant funds, given the 
early involvement of the agency in providing design assistance; the implementation of the principals in 
the final design; the comprehensive approach; high level of points on the checklist; public accessibility to 
the landscape proposed; and the inclusion of a Bay-Friendly qualified landscape professional on the 
design team.  

These grant funds are restricted to a specific use per the terms of the application and agreement upon 
acceptance. In order for the Library to access these funds the board 1) authorizes acceptance of these 
monies, and 2) approves the appropriation of these monies to the budget before any portion thereof 
can be expended. 

RATIONAL FOR RECOMMENDATION 

By accepting and appropriating the funds received the Library will be able to honor the intent and 
wishes of the grantor/donor and fulfill identified community needs. 

Attachments 
1. Resolution 
 
 



 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

RESOLUTION NO.: R12-___ 
 

AUTHORIZING THE LIBRARY SERVICES DIRECTOR TO ACCEPT AND APPROPRIATE  
BAY-FRIENDLY LANDSCAPING GRANT FUNDS FOR FY 2012/13. 

 
WHEREAS, the Berkeley Public Library actively seeks and welcomes government and private funding 
support for its myriad of services; and 
 
WHEREAS, the North Branch Library Improvement project is funded by Measure FF and a component of 
the project is to improve the landscaping and make site improvements in a manner consistent with 
Silver LEED rating; and 
 
WHEREAS, the project’s architectural design team Architectural Resources Group / Tom Elliot Fitch has 
engaged a landscape architect well versed in the principals of Bay-Friendly Landscaping and that this 
firm, Gates + Associates has completed the application; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bay-Friendly Landscaping Grant program, administered by the Alameda County Waste 
Management Authority, Stopwaste.org Office has determined that the North Branch Library project may 
be eligible for a grant in an amount up to or equal to $15,000; and  
 
WHEREAS, for the Library to access these funds the board 1) authorizes acceptance of these monies, and 
2) approves the appropriation of these monies to the budget before any portion thereof can be 
expended; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley hereby 
authorizes the Director of Library Services to accept and appropriate to FY 2012/13 a Bay-Friendly 
Landscaping grant award from Stopwaste.org in an amount not to exceed $15,000. 
 
ADOPTED by the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley at a special meeting held on February 
8, 2012 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
NOES:ABSENT: 
ABSTENTIONS:            
    Winston Burton, Chairperson 
 
            
    Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
    Serving as Secretary to the Board of Library Trustees 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 



 

 



 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 

 ACTION CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 
 
FROM: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
 
SUBJECT: CONTRACT: GONSALVES & STRONCK CONSTRUCTION INC. FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE 

SOUTH BRANCH LIBRARY  
 
RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt a Resolution to recommend to City Council:   

1. Approve plans and specifications for the Berkeley Public Library South Branch Improvement 
Project; 

2. Resolution of any bid protests received; 

3. Accept the bid of Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc.; and 

4. Authorize the City Manager to execute a contract, and any amendments, extensions or change 
orders until completion of the project in an amount not to exceed $4,963,000 which includes a 
contingency of approximately 7.5%.  

FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION 

Funding for the award of this contract is in the FY 2012 budget as follows: 

PROJECT COST FUND BUDGET CODE 

South Branch Project  $4,763,000 Measure FF – Branch 
Improvement Program 

308-9301-450.65-75 

Branch Libraries FF&E $200,000 Foundation FF&E (gift 
funds) 

307-9301-450.70-43 

Assigned CMS number is GVNHA. 

The bid day estimate for this project was $4.3M. In order to accept the lowest bidder and to include a 
change order allowance of approximately 7.5% in the event unforeseen conditions occur, South Branch 
Project contingency and some soft cost funds were reallocated. The budget was developed with no 
adverse effect on the funding balance for the remaining project. In addition, $200,000 from the Library 
Foundation FF&E Fund capital gift is allocated toward furniture, fixtures, and equipment for this project 
to cover the cost of shelving, the service desk and audio-visual equipment included in the construction 
contract.  

III Action, Item A 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
ACTION CALENDAR REPORT 
Contract: Construction for South Branch Library Construction Page 2 

 
CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 

The South Branch Library located at 1901 Russell Street is in need of improvements to make it 
seismically safe, compliant with current codes – including the ADA, and to allow it to function as a 
modern library. To ensure that Berkeley can serve the needs of library patrons with adequate seating, 
computers, and for public functions, demolition and new construction is needed. 
 

BACKGROUND 

In November 2008 City residents voted in favor of Measure FF, a Library bond measure not to exceed 
$26M to renovate, expand, and make seismic and access improvements at the four branch libraries. In 
March 2008 the Board of Library Trustees voted to recommend to the City Council a preferred firm to 
complete architectural design services for the South Branch Library; in June 2008 the City Council 
approved the hiring of Field Paoli Architects to design and develop construction documents for the 
South Branch Library.  Since that time community meetings were held and an extensive planning process 
completed. On May 17, 2011, at a regular meeting of the City Council, hearings were held on the South 
branch library project, at that time the FEIR were approved; and Use Permit No. 10-10000031 to allow 
demolition of the existing South Branch Library and construction of a new branch library was approved.  

The South Branch Library Improvement Project was released for bid on December 2, 2011, and bids 
were opened on February 17, 2012.  

Thirteen bids were received from a low of $4,603,000 to a high of $5,671,000 (Attachment 2). The low 
bidder was determined according to the instructions sent out with the request for bids.  Based on these 
criteria the order of the five lowest bidders is as follows: 

1. Cal-Pacific Construction             $4,603,000 
2. Gonsalves & Stronck Construction       $4,613,000 
3. Transworld Construction                         $4,671,982 
4. West Bay Builders, Inc.                             $4,672,500 
5. R.E. West Builders, Inc.                             $4,718,649 

However, a protest was filed by Gonsalves & Stronck Construction, Inc. alleging bidding irregularities by 
Cal-Pacific Construction. A copy of the bid protest was sent to Cal-Pacific to provide them an opportunity 
to respond to the protest issues. The City held an informal hearing on January 24, 2012, to allow both 
Cal-Pacific and Gonsalves & Stronck the opportunity to provide additional information before a hearing 
officer. The City’s representative facilitating the hearing was Mr. John Rosenbrock, P.E.  

Based on the information submitted orally at the hearing of January 24, 2012, and the information 
presented prior to and after the hearing, one protest issue (Library Shelving) has been carefully 
considered and denied. The issue of the missing CSI Numbers has been carefully considered and has 
been found to have merit and, as a result, the bid by Cal-Pacific should be deemed non responsive and 
its bid rejected. A copy of the decision is attached as Attachment 3. 

Therefore, Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc. has been determined to be the lowest responsive 
bidder.  After interviewing Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc. references, it was determined that it 
was a responsible bidder as well.  Accordingly, it is recommended that a contract for this project be 
awarded to that firm. 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
ACTION CALENDAR REPORT 
Contract: Construction for South Branch Library Construction Page 3 

 
Pursuant to Berkeley code section 3.04.090(E) the Library shall recommend to the City Council the 
execution of contracts relating to the improvements at the four branch libraries, including but not 
limited to, contracts for design, engineering, construction management, and construction.  

The contract is subject to the Community Workforce Agreement approved by the Berkeley City Council 
on January 18, 2011. As a result, the successful bidder and all subcontractors will be required to sign an 
agreement to be bound before being eligible for award of a contract. The Living Wage Ordinance does 
not apply to this project since public works construction contracts are, pursuant to City policy, subject to 
State prevailing wage laws. 
 

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 

Thirteen bids were submitted for the project and Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc. was the lowest 
responsible and responsive bidder. The City does not have the available in-house work force to perform 
the construction services required for this scale of a project. It is therefore necessary to execute a 
contract with Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc. 
 
ALTERNATIVE ACTIONS CONSIDERED 

No alternative actions have been considered. 

 
CONTACT PERSON 

Donna Corbeil, Berkeley Public Library, 981-6195 

 
Attachments:  
1. Resolution 
2. Bid Results 
3. Bid Resolution Letter 
 





BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

 
RESOLUTION NO.: R12-___ 

CONTRACT:  GONSALVES & STRONCK CONSTRUCTION INC.  
FOR CONSTRUCTION OF THE SOUTH BRANCH LIBRARY IMPROVEMENT PROJECT 

WHEREAS, in November 2008 City residents voted in favor of Measure FF a Library bond measure not to 
exceed $26M to renovate, expand, and make seismic and access improvements at the four branch 
libraries; and 

WHEREAS, the City hired Field Paoli Architects to design and develop construction documents for 
improvements to the South Branch Library; and 

WHEREAS, the City lacks sufficient staff and resources to complete the construction in-house; and 

WHEREAS, a request for bids from contractors to renovate the library were released for bid on 
December 5, 2011 and Thirteen bids were opened on January 17, 2012; and 

WHEREAS, a protest to the award of the contract to the apparent low bidder was received from the 
second lowest bidder; and 

WHEREAS, on January 24, 2012, the City conducted an informal protest hearing to carefully consider the 
protest, all written responses, and provide an opportunity for the parties to provide additional 
information before the hearing officer; and 

WHEREAS, the submitted protest was considered resulting in a recommendation to reject the 
nonresponsive bid by Cal-Pacific Construction; and 

WHEREAS, Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc. was determined to be the lowest responsive and 
responsible bidder; and 

WHEREAS, funding is available in FY 2012 of $4,763,000 from the Branch Improvement Program / 
Measure FF Fund budget code 308-931-450.65-75 and $200,000 is available from the Measure FF Capital 
Campaign gift fund budget code 307-9301-450.70-43; and 

WHEREAS, Pursuant to Berkeley code section 3.04.090(E) the Library shall recommend to the City 
Council the execution of contracts relating to the improvements at the four branch libraries, including 
but not limited to contracts for design, engineering, construction management and construction.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley adopt a 
resolution to recommend City Council approve execution of a contract and any amendments, 
extensions, or change orders until completion of the project in accordance with the approved plans and 
Specifications No. 12-10615-C with Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Inc., for the South Branch 
Improvement Project, in an amount not to exceed $4,963,000.  

ADOPTED by the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley at a regular meeting held on February 
8, 2012 by the following vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTENTIONS:  
   ____________________________________________  
   Winston Burton, Chairperson 
 
   ____________________________________________  
   Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
   Serving as Secretary to the Board of Library Trustees 

Attachment 1 





Attachment 2



Attachment 2



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



 

 
1 0 0 0  W a s h i n g t o n  S t r e e t ,  S a n  C a r l o s ,  C A  9 4 0 7 0 -5 3 1 9  TE L  6 50 /80 2 -296 0  F A X :  6 50 /80 2 -29 70 .  L i c .67 276 9   

w w w . g s - co n s t r u c t ion . co m 

January 18, 2012 

CERTIFIED MAIL#7008 0150 0001 7760 6345   

ATTN: John Rosenbrock, Project Manager  
City of Berkeley 
2180 Milvia Street 
Berkeley, CA 94704 

RE:  Berkeley Public Library South Branch Improvement 12-10615-C bid on January 17, 2012 
Subject: Formal Bid Protest 

Dear Mr. Rosenbrock: 

With this letter, Gonsalves & Stronck Construction Company, Inc. (G&S) hereby protests the bid proposal 
submitted by the Cal – Pacific Construction, Inc. (Cal-Pacific) for the above-mentioned project for various 
reasons stated below. 

Cal – Pacific has at least two known defects in their bid proposal document 00430 aka Subcontractor List that 
G&S believes that Cal-Pacific bid proposal to be defective to a significant degree that these defects cannot be 
waived.  First, they have not listed a specialty subcontractor for Library Shelving, which is in excess of one-half 
of 1 percent of the prime contractor's total bid.  The listed product for the library shelving is Estey Corporation 
which sells their products ONLY through dealers to which Cal – Pacific is NOT.  The sole dealer for the S.F. 
Bay area is Ross McDonald Co., Inc.  Secondly, they have failed to list on the sub listing form, the CSI# 
required by the form which is associated with each trade listed.  This failure to write in the CSI# required by the 
bid form give Cal-Pacific an advantage benefit not allowed other bidders, i.e. G&S whom complied, in that less 
information had to be conveyed to their (Cal-Pacific) bid runner thereby allowing for taking more bids in for 
analysis and / or listing resulting in a lower bid price. 

Other listing issues of concern is they failed to list for Metal Soffits, Gypsum Drywall & Ceramic Tile all of 
which has a fair market value in excess of one-half of 1 percent of the prime contractor's total bid.  This work is 
not typical work of a “B” license General Contractor, which usually lacks the request experience to meet the job 
specifications required of this work. 

 

Given that G&S bid has appropriately listed subcontractors as well as the CSI#’s as required on the sub listing 
form, we are the lowest responsive bidder therefore should be awarded the contract.  We look forward to the 
result of your investigation. 

Respectfully, 
Gonsalves & Stronck Const. Co., Inc. 

 
Omar J. Adham 
Project Estimator 
cc: Mr. William Stronck 
 Mr. Steven Dewan, Kitchell CEM 
 Mr. Mark Schatz, Field Paoli 
 Mr. Chris Hersey, Miller, Morton, Caillat & Nevis, LLP 

Attachment 3





:CAL PACIF'IC
. CONSI'RUGITONINC.@

January 2012012

John Rosenbrocb PM
City of Berkeley
20E0 Milvia St.
Berkeley, CL94704

Re: Bid Protest on Berkeley Public Library South Branch Inprovement

Dear Mr. Rosenbrcck,

We are writing to respond to letter dated January l8r20l2 from Gonsalves &
Strcnck Construction Cor Inc. which we received from Steven Dewan of Kitchell on
January l9r2Ol2. Gonzalves & Stronck states that their letter is a bid protest.

Gonzalves & Stmnckts protest should be rejected. Cal Pacific Construction Inc. has
fully complied with the Public Contract Code and the City's bid documents with
regard to the listing of subcontractors.

We were not requirrcd to list subcontractons for the portions of work to which
Gonzalves & Stronck referc to in its letter because either the value of the work is
less than one half of one perccnt or the work wiII be per{iormed by our company.

Specifically:

1) Library Eouinment (spec section 115100): Cal Pacific Construction, Inc.
will purchase "Estey metel shelving'or approved equel. CLW Builderr,Inc.
(License #525027) will instatl shelving and other related work for $21,930.00,
which is less thanYzof lo/e of this bid price.

2) Gvnsum Board and Tilins: lYe will self perform Gypsum board assemblies
(spec. section 092116) and Tiling (spec. section 093000). A|l workwill be
pedormed by skilled and qudified workers.

3) Metal soflit oanels (spec. section 074500): Cal Pacific Constructionr lnc. will
purchase panels. Pioneer Contractorsr lnc. (License #777064) will install for
$201720.00, which is less thanYzof lo/o of this bid price.

California Public Contract Code Section 4104 requines that a general contractor, for
each subcontractor thet will perform more thenYztharnlo/o of the bid price,list the
name, location, and portion of work that will be performed by the subcontractor.
We have provided that infomation. CSI section numbers are merely informational
in nature, end are not required by statute, Fumishing such information at a latcr
date to the District does not confer eny economic advantage or allow a bidder to
withdraw its bid. According$, any failure to include such information at the time of
the bid does not prevent the District from awarding the contract to Cal Pacific
Constructionr lnc. Menefee v. County of Fresno, 163c.A.3dll75rll78 (f98t

Attachment 3



:CAt PACIFIC
.CONSTRUGNONINC.@

In Ghilotti Constnrction Co. v. City of Richmond, 45C.A.4h 897 (1996L the Court
ruled that it would lmount to a disseruice to the public if a losing bidder were to be
permitted to comb thru'gh the bid proposel or liccnsc epplicrtion of a low bidder
after the fact, and canccl thc low bid on minor technicalities, with the hope of
securing ecceptance of hig higher bid. Such e construction would be adverse to the
best interesb of the public and contrary to public policy.

The Court's mling in Ghilotti is directly applicable here" In thcse difiicult times, it is
all the more impoftant that government agencies be as cost-efiective as possible in
the award of contracts.

TYe therefore respectfully request that the protest be overnrled and the contract for
the Berkeley Public Library South Branch Improvement be ewerded to Cal Pacilic
Constnrction, Inc.

If you havc any further qucstions, please don't hcsitate to call me at (650) 557-123t
ert 116.

Vice President

LO09 Terra Nova Blvd., Pacifica, CA94044,Phone: 65G557-123t Fax: 650-557-1239

Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3





Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3





Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3



Attachment 3





 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 
 
 ACTION CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 

FROM: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 

SUBJECT: TEMPORARY CLOSURE OF THE SOUTH BRANCH LIBRARY AND RELOCATION OF THE TOOL 
LENDING LIBRARY; RE-OPENING THE NORTH BRANCH LIBRARY; AND RE-OPENING THE 
CLAREMONT BRANCH LIBRARY 

RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt a resolution authorizing the Director of Library Services to close the South Branch Library effective 
Sunday, March 18, 2012 for approximately 15 months for replacement and new construction; 
coordinate a start date for temporary operation of the Tool Lending Library at an alternative location to 
begin prior to March 19, 2012; and re-open the North Branch Library on Saturday April 7, 2012 and the 
Claremont Branch Library on May 5, 2012 in order to complete Measure FF branch library authorized 
improvements.   

FISCAL IMPACTS 

There are no fiscal impacts from requested action. 

BACKGROUND 

In November 2008, voters approved the sale of $26M in bonds to renovate, expand, and make seismic 
and access improvements at the four neighborhood branch libraries. 

In July 2009, program discussions with the board and staff had identified issues and assumptions most 
directly related to planning neighborhood services during the temporary branch closures, including 
recommending program timeline escalation yielding greater cost savings through increasing the overlap 
period of branch closures. At the September 2009 board meeting, the program project manager 
reported on the program’s progress to-date and presented to the board a refined master schedule, 
including the option of increased overlap of branch closures with the recommendation that no more 
than two branches be closed concurrently.  In addition, the board authorized the purchase of a BookVan 
in order to supplement library services by scheduling stops in effected neighborhoods. Since December 
2010, the North and Claremont neighborhoods have been served by a staffed BranchVan.  

CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 

At the January 11, 2012 Board meeting the program manager, Steve Dewan (Kitchell CEM) reported on 
the status of the four projects: 

1. Claremont Branch projected opening March / April 2012 
2. North Branch projected opening April / May 2012 

III Action, Item B 



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
ACTION CALENDAR REPORT 
Temporary Closure and Re-opening of Branch Libraries - Measure FF Page 2 
   

3. South branch bid opening January 17, 2012 – Projected closing scenarios reviewed (Construction 
commence between March and May 2012) 

4. West Branch bid opening end of February 2012 (Construction commence May 2012) 

The board discussed extensively the scheduling of openings and closures as they related to public 
service, staff workload and adherence to the master program schedule. Several themes emerged 
relevant to the item under consideration, to summarize: 

Identify mitigations to address Claremont delay, both budget and program schedule; 

Assess impact of three closures for extended period of time, particularly in the summer months if 
appropriate; and 

Assess impact of multiple closures (3) on van schedule; consider impact of increased visitors to open 
locations; and need for staff re-assignments related to schedule changes. 

To limit negative impacts and to allow for the most efficient schedule implementation process we 
recommend the following schedule: 

• Close the South Branch effective Sunday, March 18, 2012 
• Open the North Branch two weeks later, on April 7, 2012  
• Between March 17 and April 7th (3 weeks) three branches will be closed –West and Central will 

be open  
• Close the West Branch Library effective Sunday, April 15, 2012 
• Open the Claremont branch Library on May 5, 2012 
• Between April 15 and May 5 (3 weeks) three branches will be closed – North and Central will be 

open  
• After May 5, 2012 the Claremont and North branches are open and the South and West 

branches are closed, with the Tool library operating out of a temporary facility. 

Because these sites will be active construction zones, South Branch and West Branch must close 
temporarily for public safety to allow for seismic, code and access improvements as well as new 
construction. 

Prior to the start of construction, each branch is scheduled for a two-three week move out period, 
providing time for the Library to pack and store materials, remove furniture, and clean out the facilities 
prior to handover to contractors. Similarly, a period of two-three weeks is needed to move back into a 
renovated facility.  

The next major activities will be the bidding of the West Branch project and scheduling of this 
construction. The re-opening of the South and West branch libraries will occur in 2013.  

RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends that the South Branch Library close for renovations and new construction for 
approximately 12 - 14 months for the period from March 18, 2012 through May 2013 and that the North 
Branch Library re-open April 7, 2012 and the Claremont branch re-open May 5, 2012. Closure delays 
may shorten the length of time needed for staff to fully close-out the branches and could negatively 
impact the construction schedule and budget. Determining the re-opening dates will allow staff 
sufficient time to plan the execution of these activities, including planning a public grand opening event, 
moving furnishings, equipment and material back-in, complete set-up of all operational tasks and 
orienting staff to new systems.  



BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
ACTION CALENDAR REPORT 
Temporary Closure and Re-opening of Branch Libraries - Measure FF Page 3 
   

The Library Director will provide status reports during the branches’ construction phases and will keep 
the board abreast of any project timeline changes. 

 

 

FUTURE ACTION  

None. 

 

Attachments:  

1. Resolution 





 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES 

 

RESOLUTION NO.: R12-___ 

THE BOARD OF LIBRARY TRUSTEES APPROVES THE TEMPORARY CLOSURE OF THE SOUTH BRANCH 
LIBRARY AND RELOCATION OF THE TOOL LENDING LIBRARY AT AN ALTERNATE LOCATION; AND RE-

OPENING THE NORTH BRANCH LIBRARY AND CLAREMONT BRANCH LIBRARY  

WHEREAS, in July 2009, program discussions with the board included recommendation for program 
timeline escalation to result in greater cost savings; and 

WHEREAS, at the September 2009 board meeting, the board was presented with a refined branch 
libraries improvement program master schedule, including greater overlap of branch closures with the 
recommendation that no more than two branches be closed at the same time; and,  

WHEREAS, the North Branch and Claremont Branch projects are currently nearing the completion of 
construction; and  

WHEREAS, the South Branch library project has been bid, with the next step to close in preparation for 
construction; and  

WHEREAS, prior to the start of construction and at the completion of construction, each branch is 
scheduled for a move out / move in period of 2-3 weeks to pack and store materials, remove furniture, 
and clean out the facilities prior to handover to contractors and likewise to prepare for re-opening by  
setting up furniture, equipment and operations .  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley adopt a 
resolution authorizing the temporary closures of the South Branch Library effective March 18, 2012 for 
new construction for a term of approximately 15 months, relocation of the Tool Lending Library 
operation off-site prior to this closure and re-open the North Branch on April 7th, followed by the 
Claremont Branch on May 5, 2012. 

ADOPTED by the Board of Library Trustees of the City of Berkeley at a special meeting held on February 
8, 2012 by the following vote: 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:  
ABSTENTIONS:  
  ____________________________________________  
 Winston Burton, Chairperson 
 
  ____________________________________________  
 Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
 Secretary of the Board of Library Trustees 
 

Attachment 1 





Period Ending 01/31/12 DRAFT

Revised Budget -  

April 4, 2011

Previous Month's 

Committed Costs

Current Committed 

Costs

Notes - 

Since 

08/01/10

SITE HARD COSTS

General Contractor

Contract / Estimate - Construction 4,250,000$       4,250,000$      4,563,000$         10

Contract / Estimate - Demolition 50,000$            50,000$           50,000$              

Approved Change Order Requests -$                      -$                     -$                       

Pending Change Order Requests -$                      -$                     -$                       

Change Order Contingency 430,000$          430,000$         350,000$            

Other Project Hard Costs

Public Art 64,500$            64,500$           64,500$              

Miscellaneous Purchase Orders 50,000$            15,000$           10,000$              6, 11

TOTAL SITE HARD COSTS 4,844,500$       4,809,500$      5,037,500$         

SITE SOFT COSTS

Architectural and Engineering Fees 785,000$          785,000$         785,000$            

Executed ASAs -$                      69,058$           69,058$              4

LEED Commissioning 31,156$            31,156$           31,156$              

LEED Fees 5,000$              5,000$             5,000$                

Special Inspections & Testing 30,000$            30,000$           30,000$              

Miscellaneous Consultants 15,000$            5,000$             5,000$                6

City Fees (Planning Studies, etc.) 20,000$            26,952$           26,952$              5, 8

Building Permit 226,870$          150,000$         150,000$            7

Inspections -$                      75,000$           75,000$              7

Environmental Consultants & Studies (CEQA) 50,000$            65,000$           65,000$              1, 3, 5

Utility Fees - PG&E 37,500$            37,500$           37,500$              

Utility Fees - AT&T 12,500$            12,500$           12,500$              

Utility Fees - EBMUD 10,000$            70,000$           70,000$              6

Geotechnical Survey & Report 15,000$            15,000$           15,000$              

Survey Fees 10,000$            10,000$           10,000$              

Hazmat Monitoring/Testing Services 35,000$            20,000$           20,000$              6

Temporary Storage Costs 37,500$            37,500$           37,500$              

Printing/Plan Reproduction 20,000$            20,000$           15,000$              11

Bid Advertising 1,500$              1,500$             1,500$                

Moving Costs 16,520$            16,520$           16,520$              

Contract Authorized Contingencies 78,500$            9,443$             9,443$                2

   

TOTAL SITE SOFT COSTS 1,437,046$       1,492,128$      1,487,128$         

TOTAL SITE COSTS 6,281,546$    6,301,628$    6,524,628$      

PROJECT CONTINGENCY 47,974$            27,892$           4,892$                

ADDITIONAL REVENUE - ALTERNATE FUNDING 200,000$            9

TOTAL SITE BUDGET 6,329,520$  6,329,520$ 6,529,520$   

PROJECT COST CONTROL REPORT

South & Tool Lending Branch Renovation and 

Expansion

IV Information, Item A



1 Commitment increased to reflect portion of additional cost for DC&E for Program EIR (09/30/10)

2 Contract amendment to Field Paoli assigning contingency - 09/15/10 BOLT, 09/21/10 City Council

3 Adjusting Journal to CoB to increase DC&E contract by $6,757 (10/26/10)

4 Field Paoli - Executed ASAs #1-9

5 Adjusting Journal to CoB for increased time spent by CoB Planning staff on EIR (05/25/11)

6 Budget line item commitments reduced to offset EBMUD increase for upsized meter (09/30/11)

7 Inspections separated from "Building Permit, Inspection" line item to allow for management (10/31/11)

8 Budget line item commitment increased for Tool Library Administrative Use Permit (11/30/11)

9 Additional revenue (per BPL)

10 Apparent Low (Responsive) Bid per 01/17/12 Bid Opening - Gonsalves & Stronck

11 Budget line item commitments reduced to offset increase in contractor contract value (01/31/12)

Notes - Since 08/01/10

IV Information, Item A



 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 
 INFORMATION CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 
 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 
 
FROM: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
 
SUBJECT: FEBRUARY 2012 MONTHLY REPORT FROM LIBRARY DIRECTOR 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Every month the Library Director gives the Board a report on Library activities and updates from the 
previous month. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

This report will have no fiscal impacts. 

 

PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES 

The Library Director attended a California Public Library Summit on January 17 in Sacramento, called by 
the California State Librarian Stacy A. Aldrich. Over 130 library jurisdictions state wide attended the all -
day event.  The purpose was three-fold: hear an update on last March’s meeting regarding library 
messaging across the state; discuss recommendations from a sub-committee chaired by the State 
Librarian to review and make recommendations to the 2011 California Library Services Act; and lastly to 
develop priorities  for State funding of public libraries. As funding has been eliminated for the state 
budget it is critical that we meet to share information regarding the state of public libraries across 
California. 

Upcoming conferences: 

The American Library Association has announced the dates for the 2012 ALA Annual Conference  in 
Anaheim, Calif., June 21-26 to continue important conversations about the transformation of libraries, 
e-content and other key topics.  

The Public Library Association’s 2012 conference will take place from March 13–17 in Philadelphia, and 
registration is now open. For complete details, visit www.placonference.org. You do not need to be 
registered to reserve housing through PLA’s online Housing Bureau.  

 

IV Information, Item B 

http://www.alaannual.org/
http://www.placonference.org/


BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY  
INFORMATION CALENDAR REPORT 
February 2012 Report from Library Director  Page 2 
  

PROGRAMS, SERVICES AND COLLECTIONS 

Programs  

Berkeley Public Library is beginning a free drop-in service about e-books. If you have questions about e-
books and e-readers, bring them to E-Books Office Hours. Come to one of these sessions and talk with a 
librarian who can help you set up your e-reader, tell you about the library’s e-book collection, 
troubleshoot download issues and answer questions about readers, formats, digital rights and other 
topics. Bring your devices and your questions. No registration is required. These one-hour sessions will 
be held in the Electronic Classroom at Berkeley Public Library’s Central Library, 2090 Kittredge Street 
from 10:00 - 11:00 a.m. on Friday, February 10 and Friday, March 16, and from 6:30 – 7:30 p.m. on 
Tuesday, February 21 and Tuesday, March 27. These are the first sessions in an ongoing series and more 
dates will be announced in March.  

 

Technology 

In the next few weeks the library will launch a library app which will allow people to access the basic 
library services from their mobile device. Via an easy to navigate menu library patrons will be able to 
search the catalog, see what programs are scheduled, reserve a title, view their account and a few other 
popular services. It will be accessible for download from the library’s website.  

 

Annual report 

The Library staff has been working on the 2011 Library Annual Report. It will be released via paper and 
posted on the library’s website mid-February. 

 

FACILITIES/ OPERATIONS & PERSONNEL 

 
An all-staff meeting was held on January 27, 2012, as a result the library opened at 11:00 p.m. Topics 
covered included an update on the bond program, including an overview of tasks, schedules and other 
issues of relevance to staff work. New technology efforts were reviewed prior to launch. The State 
library grant award for early literacy was covered so that staff will be informed prior to implementation. 
 

Other 

The City Council discussed and approved a city policy on naming facilities at the January 31, 2012 regular 
Council meeting: 

City of Berkeley Policy for Naming and Renaming Public Facilities (Continued from January 17, 2012) 
(PDF)  
From: Mayor Bates and Councilmembers Maio and Worthington 
Recommendation: Review the current proposed naming policy and background materials, comment, 
and adopt a formal policy for the naming and renaming of public facilities. 
Financial Implications: Unknown 
Contact: Tom Bates, Mayor, 981-7100 
 

http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_City_Council/2012/01Jan/2012-01-31_Item_21_City_of_Berkeley_Policy_for_Naming.pdf
http://www.ci.berkeley.ca.us/uploadedFiles/Clerk/Level_3_-_City_Council/2012/01Jan/2012-01-31_Item_21_City_of_Berkeley_Policy_for_Naming.pdf


 
 

BERKELEY PUBLIC LIBRARY 
 
  
 
 INFORMATION CALENDAR 
 February 8, 2012 
 
 
TO: Board of Library Trustees 
 
FROM: Donna Corbeil, Director of Library Services 
  
SUBJECT: LIBRARY WORK PLAN FY2012 AND FY2013  
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
Update on the approved Library Work Plan for the biennial budget period, FY 2012 and 2013. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact from this report. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The Library began the practice of developing an annual plan in June 2007 for the FY 08/09 budget 
period; a similar process and board adoption of the work plan for FY 2010/11 occurred in December 
2008. Updates have been given regularly since this time. The last update to the board occurred at a 
regular meeting of the board on July 13, 2011. 
 
 
Like other City agencies the vast majority of work at the Library can be described as baseline service 
delivery. The 90% baseline, 10% special projects composition used by the City accurately reflects library 
operations in most years. A Library example of a special project would be the Branch Library bond 
program, which represented a significant project and body of work over multiple fiscal years. Baseline 
work represents what we consider as basic services, such as opening the library the prescribed hours per 
week, providing reference services, purchasing materials for use by the public, children’s programming, 
etc.  
 
The City’s work plan focuses on high priority time specific projects that accomplish specific goals through 
concentrated efforts. The city uses the following definition to categorize activities as a “project”: 
Projects have a desired objective, take concentrated resources and effort to achieve, and have a 
beginning and end.  Throughout the year as projects develop they are planned and budgeted for within 
the current year’s budget or incorporated into future fiscal cycles, such as capital repairs. Regardless, all 
projects require resources; these may be within the scope of the budget and staff capacity or not, in 
which case additional resources may be needed to complete them.  

IV Information, Item C 



 
The Library has adopted an abbreviated version of the larger City process, as we are one department 
versus the city’s larger scale and scope of responsibilities, which includes some of the key concepts and 
components. The general process is as follows: identify emerging priority projects and resource needs, 
evaluate work load and committed resources, then revise work plan and reallocate resources.  
 
CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS 
 
The Board developed budget priorities for FY12/13 as part of the budget workshop process beginning in 
December 2010. Attached is the approved plan (Attachment 1) of projects, including Board suggested 
initiatives adopted in July 2011.  The information presented at that time, included, for each project 
identified, a separate one-page project work sheet that included a brief description, comments, 
deliverables or the various steps required to complete the project, detailed timeline,  status, budget 
information and the lead person and/or team.  
 
For the purposes of a status update this month the worksheets have been updated (Attachment 2) for 
your review and possible discussion. 
 

The work plan aligns the work of the Library with the priorities of the Board. It also provides a context 
for any new projects that come to fruition throughout the year.  This process will ensure new projects 
are carefully considered, considering existing staffing, commitments already on the table, and adequate 
resources to complete the work.  The next update will be brought at the end of the fiscal year. 

 

FUTURE ACTION 

None.  

 

Attachments: 

1. FY 12/13 Library Work Plan summary (Updated) 

2. Worksheets 



  
 Library Workplan  

LIBRARY PROJECTS  
FY 2012 & 2013 (UPDATED 2/2012) 

 
 

 Project Title Priority Lead Budget Timeline 

1  Library Strategic Plan (2009-2012)  CI Doug Smith  $10,000 
Begin process for 
updating in FY 
2012 

2 
Implement branch library 
improvement program Cl 

D. Corbeil,  
S. Dentan,  
D. Dang 

$26M  

Ongoing  2008 -
Updates given 
monthly in board 
packets 

3 
Consider establishing a library 
reserve fund  SP D. Dang, 

D. Corbeil 

Goal: 3-5% of 
library  
budget 

FY2013-2014 
biennial budget 
process – on hold 

4 
Staff Development / Training Plan 
& Wellness DP 

J. Shurson, 
A. Abramson, 
J. Dickinson 

$5,000 - 
@10,000 

Focus on 
technology, 
wellness & 
Leadership 
Training FY12-13 

5 Library Website Functionality DP A. Abramson  $10,000 - 
$14,000 

FY12 User 
interface 
improvements 
and respond to 
public feedback 

6 
Voice over IP Phone System 
Conversion DP A. Abramson FY12 Budget City in process of 

selecting vendor 

7 E-books and Electronic Resources  DP M. McArdle 

NA FY12&13 – 
implications for 
resource 
allocation  / 
material budget 

 
CI = Critical Initiative 
SP = Special (Board initiated) Project 
DP = Department (staff initiated) Project 

  

Attachment 1 



 



Attachment 2 
#1 

 Library Strategic Plan 
  
Lead Douglas Smith (Deputy Director) 
  
Description Update Library’s Strategic Plan: 2011-2013 

 
  

Comments 
Amend and expand the current 3-year Strategic Plan, adding 
new initiatives conforming to the Library Service Responses in 
the Plan. Conduct staff workshops, community surveys and 
BOLT workshops to develop draft Plan. 

  
Budget $0 
  
Deliverables 
Step Detail Status 

BOLT workplan 
discussion 

 July 2011 

Community & staff input, 
plan revisions / review 

 Summer-Fall 2011 

BOLT/public workshop  October 2011 

Draft plan to BOLT (approved) December 2011 

Updates to BOLT  Semiannually 

 



Attachment 2 
#2 

 Branch Improvement Program 
  
Leads Donna Corbeil, Sarah Dentan 
  

Description 
In November 2008, City residents voted in favor of Measure FF, a 
Library bond measure not to exceed $26 Million to renovate, expand 
and make seismic and access improvements at the four branch 
libraries.    

  
Comments Ongoing / Completion estimated in  3rd quarter 2013 
  
Budget $26 Million 
  
Deliverables 
 

Step Detail Status 

Construction Documents Building plans, 
specifications and 
supporting documents, 
providing contractor 
instructions 

3rd Qtr 2011 – South Branch 

Completed 

1st Qtr 2012 – West Branch 

Permit Review Review of construction 
documents for compliance 
in order to issue necessary 
building permits 

1st Qtr 2012 – South Branch 

Completed 

2nd Qtr 2012 – West Branch 

Bid Solicitation Release of project details 
to solicit and obtain 
contractor bid proposals 

1st Qtr 2012 – South Branch 

Completed 

2nd Qtr 2012 – West Branch 

Contract Execution Bid award and contract 
negotiations and approvals 

1st Qtr 2012 – South Branch 

Bids opened 1/17/12; 
contract to be awarded 
[DATE] 

2nd Qtr 2012 – West Branch 

Claremont Branch  
Occupancy and Opening 

Furniture and equipment 
move-in and set up; 
building ownership turned 
over to City / Library from 
contractor; reopen for 
public service 

2nd Qtr 2012; 

Construction began 5/31/11 
–ongoing 



Attachment 2 
#2 

Step Detail Status 

Move-Out Branch closure and move 
out of furniture, fixture, 
equipment and collections 

1st Qtr 2012 – South Branch 

Branch scheduled to close 
effective 3/18/12 

3rd Qtr 2012 – West Branch 

Branch scheduled to close 
effective 4/15/12 

North Branch  
Occupancy and Opening 

Furniture and equipment 
move-in and set up; 
building ownership turned 
over to City / Library from 
contractor; reopen for 
public service 

2nd Qtr 2012 Construction 
began 5/16/2011 – ongoing 

Branch scheduled to open 
4/7/12 

Construction Building ownership turned 
over to contractor; 
demolition and new 
construction 

2nd Qtr 2013 – South Branch 

2nd Qtr 2013 – West Branch 

Occupancy and Opening Furniture and equipment 
move-in and set up; 
building ownership turned 
over to City / Library from 
contractor; reopen for 
public service 

2nd Qtr 2013 – South Branch 

3rd Qtr 2013 – West Branch 

 





Attachment 2 
#4 

 Staff Development / Training Plan 
  
Lead Jenifer Shurson, Alicia Abramson, Doug Smith 
  

Description 
Provides necessary base knowledge & additional fundamental 
knowledge essential to the tasks associated with each 
classification while providing a path for those members of staff 
interested in career growth and leadership opportunities.  

  
Comments  
  
Budget $16,506 
  
Deliverables 
Step Detail Status 

Indentify Basic, Class 
and Specific 
competencies 

 Basic and Class 
completed. 

Specific to be developed.  

Identify Tools and 
Coursework linked to 
competencies.  

 

 

 

 

Basic Competencies 
addressed by 2 day 
orientation, supervisor led 
training and 4 core 
courses (Customer Svc, 
Privacy Policy, Library 
Computing, Circulation.)  

Class competencies 
addressed by 
corresponding course 
requirements. 

 

 

 

Orientation Packet and 
Checklist revised. 
Orientation video 
completed. Injury 
Prevention  incorporated 
into orientation.  

Core courses and 
trainings assoc w/ class 
competencies developed 
and will continue to offer 
ongoing basis.  

Customer Svc related 
trainings – Techniques 
for Helping Patrons 
Serve Themselves and 
Dealing with Difficult 
People. 

Circ Trainings covered 
Info Desk and Circ 
basics (3/13 and 4/18) 
Intermediate Millennium 
training on 9/29 



Attachment 2 
#4 

 

 

 

Specific Competencies 

Privacy Training on 
2/17/11  

Library Computing as 
needed 

To be developed by 
division supervisors.  

Promotional 

Library Trainee Program 
based on class 
competencies to be 
developed.  

3 part process; 
Coursework, Job 
Shadowing and Higher 
class opportunities. 

Program developed and 
successfully 
implemented last yr. Will 
continue to offer annually 
depending on demand 
and coaches . 

Following completion of 
coursework and 
shadowing assignments 
higher class opps will be 
made available (program 
to resume mid 2012).  

Promotional Trainings 
included staff led 
Reader’s Advisory series 
& constructive feedback 

Addtl professional dev 
activities included 
ALA/CLA recaps (staff 
present on conferences 
attended) Also hosted 
webinars including the 
Edgy Librarian, The 
Hopeful Workplace and 
Library 2.011 a 
Worldwide Conference.  

Leadership Development 

Internal 
program/academy 
targeting current and 
potential future BPL 
leaders 

Initial program 
development and testing 
with managers. Steps: 
define Library culture (in 
progress); identify and 
develop leadership 
competencies (to be 
completed); and identify 



Attachment 2 
#4 

coursework to build 
those competencies (to 
be completed.)   

Mgmt staff attended a 
weeklong virtual 
symposium on 
Leadership through ALA 
& will be attending an 
emotional intelligence 
training (the foundation 
of our LDP) on 2/8.  Next 
steps: analysis of 
individual leadership 
styles; gap analysis; 
individual development 
plans with mgmt.  

Phase 2a: Candidate 
Recruitment. Candidates 
enrolled in coursework 
and mentoring program.  

Phase 2b: Those who 
successfully complete 
phase 2a will take part in 
assisted project mgmt 
exercise. 

Library Conference 
Attendance 

Staff submit applications 
for conference 
attendance to be 
reviewed with a select 
number approved by the 
Deputy Director.  

Staff attendance at 
annual  library 
conferences including 
ALA, PLA and CLA to 
support professional 
development.  

Tracking System Database merged with 
Personnel Database 

Trainings and course 
evaluations being 
tracked by JS.  

Incentive Program  

Core Graduate 
Ceremony at All-Staff 
mtg. Possible luncheon 
for leadership program 
grads. 



Attachment 2 
#4 

Plan Evaluation  On-going staff surveys & 
evaluation forms 

 



Attachment 2 
#4 

 Staff Health & Wellness 
  
Lead Jenifer Shurson 
  

Description 
Provides resources to support staff in areas of physical 
fitness, nutrition and stress management leading to overall 
improved staff health and morale.   

  
Comments  
  
Budget $800 
  
Deliverables 
Step Detail Status 

Health and Wellness 

Program Development  

Program to focus on 
nutrition, fitness and 
stress management 

Offered courses/activities  
related to fitness, 
ergonomics and stress 
management.   

Health and Wellness 

Program Development  

Year 2 

Survey circulated to 
assess staff preferences 
for trainings/activity 
options in the areas of 
nutrition, fitness, stress 
mgmt. and ergonomics. 

Survey circulated to staff 
mid June via Library 
News. Responses 
varied. 

Survey evaluation and 
training/activity 
coordination. 

Based on survey results, 
arrange trainings and 
activities that satisfy core 
areas (fitness, nutrition, 
stress mgmt, ergo) while 
best matching staff  
preferences.   

Walking Program – 
completed. Hope to 
repeat annually. 

Line Dancing (Virtual 
Lessons) – Beginning 
Feb 2012 

Laughter Yoga (by Rebel 
Librarian) – Date TBD 

Chi Kung - Date TBD 

Workplace Ergonomics 
with Balance and Motion- 
March 2012 

Develop Tracking 
System 

Wellness Database to be 
merged with Personnel 
Database 

Approx 30 participants 
enrolled in walking 
program. Staff 



Attachment 2 
#4 

participated individually 
or in teams sometimes 
travelling prearranged 
routes and completing 
scavenger hunts. Some 
staff exceeded 11000 
steps in a day. 

Wellness database yet to 
be merged.  

Incentive Program  

To be developed based 
on activities. 

Walking program – 
smoothie party for all 
participants and gift cert 
for highest step totals.   

Plan Evaluation  On-going staff surveys & 
evaluation forms 

 



Attachment 2 
#5 

 Library Website Functionality 
  Lead Alicia Abramson 
  
Description Enhance and update the library’s web site for patron-

friendliness, navigability, content and mobile optimization 
  Comments  
  Budget $15,000 
  Deliverables 
Step  Detail Status 

Convene Website 
Redesign team 

Website team will include Library 
wide representation  

July 2011 

Engage services of a 
design consultant  

Consultant will assist team with 
analysis and create designs and 
layouts based on team direction 

July 2011 

Analyze existing site for 
usability, ease of use, 
compliance with current 
standards for web site 
development. Conduct a 
survey of current well 
designed Library and 
similar websites 

Site traffic, use logs and use patterns 
will be reviewed and analyzed by 
staff to determine the most often 
used and least often used parts of 
the site.  Staff will also assess 
current categories of information 
represented and work towards 
simplifying. 

July – 
November  
2011 

Identify key stakeholders 
and solicit feedback about 
existing site 

Information will be gathered from 
stakeholders in a number of ways 
including surveys, interviews and 
usability exercises with a focus on 
understanding  users’ interaction with 
the site to find desired content 

December 
2011- February  
2012 

Develop information 
architecture of site and test 
usability. 
 
 
 

Create functional “wireframes” which 
map the site, reflect the structure and 
navigational model to be used and 
layout of information and design 
elements. 

February – 
April 2012 

Develop imagery and 
design elements for site 

Design consultant will create several 
mockup designs for consideration by 
Website Committee.  Feedback on 
design will also be solicited from key 
stakeholders. 

April – May 
2012 



Attachment 2 
#5 

Solicit feedback on new 
design 

Incorporate feedback and staff 
analysis of existing site into a 
redesigned framework  

June – July 
2012 

Finalize design Incorporate feedback into a finalized 
design;  design shall be ADA 
accessible, cross platform 
compatible, offer mobile user options 
and adhere to current web 
standards. 

July 2012 

Soft Launch Give stakeholders the opportunity to 
preview the site before “going live” in 
order to capture any feedback that 
can be used to fine tune the site 

August 2012 

Go Live After fine tuning, go live with the new 
Web site 

September 
2012 

 



Attachment 2 
#6 

 Voice over Internet Protocol (IP) phone system 
conversion 

  
Lead Alicia Abramson 
  

Description 
The City of Berkeley is planning a citywide upgrade to the 
current PBX phone system of which the Library is a part.  The 
upgrade will include the replacement of all desktop phones 
and PBX equipment. 

  
Comments  
  
Budget $200,000 estimate in FY12 

  
  
Deliverables 
Step  Detail Status 
Participate in City of 
Berkeley system selection 
process 

System selection includes 
reviewing RFP responses, 
vendor presentations and site 
visits/interviews with other 
organizations utilizing proposed 
systems 

July – 
September 
2011 

Contract Approval City IT to present proposal for 
approval to City Council 

March or April 
2012 

Prepare sites for new phone 
system 

Make required and 
recommended preparations for 
new equipment installation 

June – August  
2012 

Training Train key staff to function as 
trainers for the larger staff 
groups; ensure all staff have 
basic training documents 

September 
2012 

Install systems at all Library 
sites 

Install and test phone systems October  – 
December 
2012 

 





Attachment 2 
#7 

 
E-books and Electronic Resources – study impact of evolving 
technologies and strategies to respond to public needs and 
demands 

  
Lead Megan McArdle 
  

Description 
Examine all current BPL electronic resources for their continued 
use and value; and explore new vendors and products that may 
address demand for provide electronic content. 

  
Comments  
  

Budget 
Current budget for electronic resources: $120,000.  Explore costs 
of downloadable media, platform fee and ongoing electronic 
content.  

  
Deliverables 
 

Step  Detail Status 
Convene staff 
meeting to go over 
current electronic 
resources. 

We met with staff from various 
departments to go over our current 
database offerings, their costs, and their 
usage statistics. The group discussed 
new products that we wished to consider 
adding, as well as resources that could 
be cancelled due to lack of use or value. 
One major purchase that was requested 
was a new downloadable content service. 
Probable vendor decided.  

April 2011 

Explore options for 
downloadable 
content providers  

Our current downloadable service has 
been bought out and will no longer be 
available after the end of our agreement 
June 30. We have had meetings and/or 
demonstrations from all of the vendors 
providing downloadable content to 
libraries.  Only one vendor currently 
provides all the content we are looking 
for, although others say content is in 
development.  

Dec 2010-
May 2011 

Begin negotiations 
with downloadable 
content provider 

We have received a quote and license 
agreement from Overdrive, the content 
provider that best suits our needs for 
downloadable ebooks and audiobooks.  
Once BPL finance department has 
cleared the agreement, we will sign and 
begin development. 

May 2011 



Attachment 2 
#7 

Step  Detail Status 
Downloadable 
content service 
implementation 

After agreement is signed, Overdrive will 
begin working with the library to develop 
our portal, by which patrons will browse 
and download material.  The 
development takes 6-10 weeks. At this 
time we will also be selecting our titles for 
our opening collection. The vendor 
agreement includes an $8000 credit for 
content, but the library will also need to 
budget to launch and grow this new 
format.  

 July/August 
2011 

Promote new 
downloadable 
service and train 
staff and patrons on 
new service 

To ensure a successful launch for 
Overdrive, we will need to train staff so 
they are effective in promoting it, and 
train patrons so that they understand how 
to use the service. Additionally we will 
want to promote Overdrive both in person 
with fliers, etc. and online on our website 
and social media outlets.  
UPDATE: As of February 2012, we have 
conducted formal trainings for staff and 
patrons on Overdrive; offered staff 
“petting zoos” where staff could come 
and try out various players, readers and 
other devices; have scheduled 4 
upcoming office hours for patrons to 
come with their devices and questions to 
receive one-on-one help with the service.  
We have also received promotional 
materials from Overdrive which we 
continue to use to promote the service.  

Immediately 
pre- and post- 
launch 

Respond to patron 
usage and 
experience of new 
downloadable 
service 

After launch, we will closely monitor 
usage, buying extra copies and new titles 
as demand indicates.  
UPDATE: As of February 2012, we have 
allocated additional funds to buy new 
Overdrive titles and extra copies of titles 
with holds. Our goal is to keep waiting 
lists below 4 holds per copy.  

Ongoing 



Attachment 2 
#7 

Step  Detail Status 
Continue to explore 
new options for 
electronic resources 

We will continue to work with staff and 
respond to patron suggestions for new 
electronic resources.  This could include 
new and/or improved initiatives to provide 
access and wayfinding for free ebooks. 
We will be closely following trends and 
products that are occurring in the 
downloadable media area as well as new 
electronic databases that would be of use 
to our patrons.  

Ongoing 

 


	2012_02_08 Agenda BOLT v5
	2012_01_11 BOLT Regular Minutes v1
	2012_01_11 BOLT Regular Minutes Attachment 1
	2012_02_08 foundation gift v2
	2012_02_08 ARs v3
	2012_02_08 ARs -attachment 2
	2012_02_08 Grant application north BF v1
	2012_02_08 South Construction Contract v2 (gonsalves & Stronck)
	2012_02_08 South Construction Contract -Attachment-2
	2012_02_08 South Construction Contract -Attachment-3
	BPL South - Bid Protest Finding 013012
	BPL South - Bid Protest Finding - Attachment 1
	BPL South - Bid Protest Finding - Attachment 2
	BPL South - Bid Protest Finding - Attachment 3
	BPL South - Bid Protest Finding - Attachment 4
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	2012_02_08 Temporary Branch Closures  v3
	2012_02_08 Branch Update
	2012_02_08 Directors report v1
	The UPublic Library Association’sU 2012 conference will take place from March 13–17 in Philadelphia, and registration is now open. For complete details, visit www.placonference.org. You do not need to be registered to reserve housing through PLA’s onl...

	2012_02_08 Work Plan Report v1
	2012_02_08 Library Projects FY2012_2014 v4
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - Strategic Plan
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - Branch Improvement Program v5
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - TrainDev
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - Wellness
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - Website
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - VOIP
	2012_02_08 Work Plan - Electronic resources
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



